STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Alexander S. Macaulay, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,APPELLANT

v.

NEZAR ABRAHAM,RESPONDENT.

Appellate Case No. 2012-213136

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 7, 2011, Trooper K.N. Brown of the South Carolina Highway Patrol arrested Respondent (Abraham) for driving under the influence (DUI). The traffic ticket indicates the vehicle was an “08” [2008] “Niss” [Nissan] bearing “Il” [Illinois] license plate number A742293. (R. p.189). On April 17, 2012, Abraham’s case was called for trial before the Honorable William F. Derrick, Jr., Oconee County Magistrate Judge. Abraham was present and was represented by Austin McDaniel, Esquire, of the Oconee County Bar. Appellant (the State) was represented by Assistant Solicitor Bethany Ann Blundy of the Tenth Circuit Solicitor’s Office. (R. p.4).

At trial, the State presented testimony from arresting officer Kevin N. Brown. (R. p.59, line 11-p.62, line 3; p.76, line 15-p.99, line 18; p.122, line 6-p.123, line 24). At the end of the State’s case, Abraham moved for a directed verdict on grounds that the State had failed to present sufficient evidence to establish the corpus delicti of DUI. The trial court denied the motion. (R. p.126, line 17-p.131, line 23). After the jury charge, Abraham renewed his previous directed verdict motion and asked the trial court to reconsider its ruling in regard to corpus delicti. The motion was again denied. (R. p.152, lines 17-24). At the conclusion of trial, the six-person jury returned a unanimous verdict of “guilty of DUI sixteen one hundredths (.16) of one percent or more.” Abraham was sentenced to ninety (90) days imprisonment suspended upon the service of one (1) day imprisonment and a fine of two thousand, two hundred and sixty-seven dollars (\$2,267), with credit for time served of one (1) day. (R. p.173-204).

Abraham timely appealed his conviction to the Oconee County Court of Common Pleas. (Case No. 2012-CP-37-383). On September 4, 2012, a hearing was convened at

the Oconee County Courthouse before the Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay. Abraham was again represented by Mr. McDaniel, Esquire, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Blair Stoudemire of the Tenth Circuit Solicitor's Office. (September 4, 2012, Tr.p.1) As grounds for appeal, Abraham argued that the magistrate judge erred in failing to direct a verdict of not guilty in light of the State's failure to prove the corpus delicti of the offense of driving under the influence. He relied primarily upon a published opinion from this Court, City of Easley v. Portman,¹ as well as the Court's discussion in Portman of a previously published opinion, State v. Osborne.² However, as indicated below, Osborne had been reversed by the South Carolina Supreme Court in 1999. Judge Macaulay was apparently not advised of this procedural history prior to orally finding: "I feel that Osborne is more closely, and Osborne addresses Townsend,³ is more, well, it's more controlling than Townsend, so I would grant your motion [to reverse the conviction]." (R. p.169, lines 7-23). Judge Macaulay ruled the evidence at trial was insufficient to prove the corpus delicti of driving under the influence and granted Respondent's motion to dismiss his conviction. On September 13, 2012, Judge Macaulay issued a written order finding the magistrate erred in failing to grant Abraham's directed verdict motion for lack of evidence to establish the corpus delicti of the offense of driving under the influence, and reversed Abraham's conviction. The State timely filed a notice of intent to appeal the Circuit Court's order. This Brief of Appellant follows.

¹ 327 S.C. 593, 490 S.E.2d 613 (Ct. App. 1997).

² 321 S.C. 196, 467 S.E.2d 454 (Ct. App. 1996), reversed, 335 S.C. 172, 516 S.E.2d 201 (1999).

³ 321 S.C. 55, 467 S.E.2d 138 (Ct. App. 1996).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sometime before midnight on July 6, 2011, a 2008 Nissan sedan was involved in a single car accident in Oconee County. The car was driven off the right side of South Flagship Drive and into a tree, causing damage to the front end of the vehicle. (R. p.189; R. p.61, lines 4-25). A little after midnight on the morning of July 7, 2011, Trooper Kevin N. Brown, a seven-year veteran of the South Carolina Highway Patrol, first saw and had contact with Abraham. Brown was on duty that night and responded to the accident scene. When Brown arrived at the scene, he noticed emergency/fire department vehicles and a vehicle off the side of the road against a tree. He was able to determine who was driving the crashed vehicle; however at trial, Abraham objected before Brown explained how he made that determination, arguing Brown's determination would impermissibly rely on hearsay. (R. p.59, line 11-p.62, line 9).

The jury was excused and during the ensuing arguments Abraham explained he was objecting to Brown testifying as to any hearsay statements from emergency personnel who might identify Abraham as the driver of the wrecked car. Abraham argued that without such statements he believed the State would be unable to prove the corpus delicti of the offense of driving under the influence, which would in turn prohibit introduction of Abraham's extra-judicial admission that he was in fact the driver, and would entitle Abraham to a directed verdict of not guilty. After hearing arguments from both parties and reviewing several cases on corpus delicti, the trial judge determined he could not rule on a motion for a directed verdict until the close of the State's case, and Trooper Brown's testimony resumed. (R. p.62, line 4-p.76, line 12).

When Brown arrived at the accident scene, the vehicle was still against the tree, and it had front end damage consistent with running into a tree. The only people present

When Brown arrived at the accident scene, the vehicle was still against the tree, and it had front end damage consistent with running into a tree. The only people present at the scene were medical personnel and Abraham, so Brown determined Abraham was the driver. (R. p.76, line 15-p.78, line 7). Brown then had a conversation with Abraham. Abraham told Brown he had been coming from the Lake Keowee Country Club, was on his way home to a residence inside Keowee Key, and admitted he had been driving the car that was wrecked into the tree. Brown smelled a strong odor of alcohol and noted Abraham was unsteady on his feet and his speech was slurred. Abraham admitted he had two to three glasses of wine at the club before driving home. (R. p.78, line 12-p.79, line 15).

Brown then conducted three standard field sobriety tests, all of which were recorded by the dashboard camera in Brown's car. One test could not be used because of Abraham's congenital eye condition; however, the two other tests showed significant signs of impairment, and Abraham was placed under arrest. (R. p.80, line 5-p.88, line 13). Abraham was subsequently taken to the police station, advised of his implied consent rights, and given a breath test. His breath sample registered at a ".22%." (R. p.92, lines 2-6). At the end of the State's case Abraham moved for a directed verdict and the motion was denied. (R. p.126, line 17-p.131, line 23; p.152, lines 17-24). The jury returned a guilty verdict for DUI.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in reversing the denial of Respondent's motion for a directed verdict where the State presented sufficient independent evidence of the corpus delicti to corroborate Respondent's extra-judicial admissions and, together with such admissions, establish a jury question as to whether Respondent was guilty of driving under the influence.

The trial judge properly denied Abraham's directed verdict motion because sufficient evidence, aside from Abraham's extra-judicial admission, was presented illustrating Abraham's impairment while driving a vehicle in this State, and from which his guilt could be fairly and logically deduced. The case was properly submitted for jury resolution by the trial judge. Viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in a light most favorable to the State, the circuit court erred in reversing the denial of Abraham's directed verdict motion and in reversing Abraham's conviction. There was no basis to disturb the trial judge's ruling and the jury's verdict. Therefore, the order of the circuit court should be reversed and Abraham's conviction should be reinstated.

When applied to a particular offense, corpus delicti means that the specific crime has been committed. State v. Dodd, 354 S.C. 13, 17, 579 S.E.2d 331, 333 (Ct. App. 2003). The "corroboration rule" requires that extra-judicial confessions or admissions of a defendant be corroborated by proof aliunde of the corpus delicti. State v. Osborne, 335 S.C. 172, 175, 516 S.E.2d 201, 202 (1999). "The [rule] is satisfied if the State provides sufficient independent evidence which serves to corroborate the defendant's extra-judicial statements and, together with such statements, permits a reasonable belief that a crime occurred." Id. at 180, 516 S.E.2d at 205. "While evidence of the corpus delicti in a particular case must be established by the best proof attainable, direct evidence is not essential." State v. Townsend, 321 S.C. 55, 57, 467 S.E.2d 138, 140 (Ct. App. 1996).

“The corpus delicti may be sufficiently proved by presumptive or circumstantial evidence when that is the best obtainable.” Id. at 57, 467 S.E.2d at 140.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge’s ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-94, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). When presented with a motion for a directed verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 62, 480 S.E.2d 62, 63 (1997). The trial judge should deny the directed verdict and submit the case to the jury if there is any substantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt may be fairly or logically deduced. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 538, 426 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1992).

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001). The appellate court may only reverse the trial judge’s denial of a motion for a directed verdict if there is no evidence supporting the trial judge’s ruling. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002). “[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge’s ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” State v. Nix, 288

S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986) (citing State v. Fogle, 256 S.C. 149, 153, 181 S.E.2d 483, 484 (1971)).

The South Carolina Code provides in part that: “It is unlawful for a person to drive a motor vehicle within this State while under the influence of alcohol to the extent that the person’s faculties to drive a motor vehicle are materially and appreciably impaired.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56–5–2930 (Supp. 2012). Thus, the act of operating a motor vehicle with impaired faculties is the gravamen of the offense. Townsend, at 58, 467 S.E.2d at 140; State v. Sheppard, 248 S.C. 464, 150 S.E.2d 916 (1966). The corpus delicti of DUI is: (1) driving a motor vehicle; (2) within this State; (3) while under the influence of alcohol [or any other drug, or combination of other drugs and substances, or combination of alcohol and any other drug or drugs or substances]. S.C.Code Ann. § 56–5–2930 (Supp. 2012); see Townsend at 58, 467 S.E.2d at 140 (setting forth the corpus delicti of DUI under a previous but substantially similar version of Section 56-5-2930 of the South Carolina Code). Thus, “evidence showing the accused in a DUI case to be the driver of the vehicle is unnecessary to the determination of whether the State sufficiently proved the corpus delicti.” City of Easley v. Portman, 327 S.C. 593, 596, 490 S.E.2d 613, 615 (Ct. App. 1997). “All that the first element requires is that the State sufficiently prove that *someone* drove the automobile.” Id. at 596, 490 S.E.2d at 615.

Here, substantial circumstantial evidence was presented establishing both Abraham’s level of impairment due to the influence of alcohol, and that he was driving the recently wrecked vehicle discovered by Trooper Brown off the road and up against a tree. Abraham was at the scene of a single car wreck and was the only person present besides emergency personnel. He smelled like alcohol, failed several field sobriety tests,

and appeared to be intoxicated. A breathalyzer test showed Respondent's blood alcohol level to be .22 approximately one hour after his arrest. As in Townsend, this is enough circumstantial evidence to submit the case to the jury. See also Portman, at 596-97, 490 S.E.2d at 615 (Ct. App. 1997) (finding that "the following circumstances constituted sufficient evidence to establish the corpus delicti of the offense of DUI: the Bronco had left the road; it rested up against a tree; the manner in which the Bronco had left the road indicated the driver's operation of the vehicle had been somehow impaired; Portman rested his head against the vehicle; he smelled of alcohol; he slurred his speech, a characteristic associated with one who is intoxicated; and the investigating officer believed Portman was under the influence of alcohol.""). In addition, as in Osborne, the State provided sufficient independent evidence to support the trustworthiness of Abraham's subsequent extra-judicial admissions to the police, and the independent evidence taken together with those admissions allowed a reasonable inference that the crime of driving under the influence was committed. See Osborne at 180, 215 S.E.2d at 205 (finding sufficient evidence of the corpus delicti of driving under the influence where the officer arrived at the scene of a one-car accident, the car had gone off the road and hit a speed limit sign, the car was abandoned, and the car hood was warm to the touch, and where two hours after the discovery Osborne was very intoxicated, admitted he wrecked his car, and returned to the accident scene).

Clearly, there was substantial evidence presented establishing Abraham's faculties and coordination were materially and appreciably impaired due to the influence of alcohol. See, e.g., State v. Salisbury, 343 S.C. 520, 524, 541 S.E.2d 247, 248-49 (2001) ("In South Carolina, the corpus delicti of DUI must be established by proof that a

person's ability to drive has been materially and appreciably impaired by the use of alcohol and/or drugs."); State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. at 132, 143-44, 498 S.E.2d 212, 217 (Ct. App.1998) ("One is under the influence, within the meaning of the statute, when the ingestion of one or more substances listed therein has resulted in the impairment of his faculties. . . . One may be under the influence as contemplated by the traffic laws without being drunk or passed out, or even intoxicated."). Therefore, viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom in a light most favorable to the State, the trial judge properly denied the directed verdict motion and submitted the case to the jury. As there was not a complete failure of evidence tending to establish Abraham's guilt, the circuit court erred in reversing his conviction. See State v. Ladner, 373 S.C. 103, 120, 644 S.E.2d 684, 693 (2007) ("On a directed verdict motion in a criminal case, the trial court is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight."). For these reasons, the State respectfully submits the circuit court should be reversed, and Abraham's conviction for DUI should be reinstated.

CONCLUSION