THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY  
Alexander S. Macaulay, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE, .....APPELLANT

v.

NEZAR ABRAHAM, .....RESPONDENT.

Appellate Case No. 2012-213136

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

C. Austin McDaniel  
Attorney At Law  
S.C. Bar No. 76084

Michael O. Hallman  
Attorney At Law  
S.C. Bar No. 2610

The Cole Law Firm  
1303 Ella Street  
Anderson, SC 29621  
(864) 225-3617

ATTORNEYS FOR  
RESPONDENT

APR 24 2013  
COLE LAW FIRM

**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 7, 2011, the Respondent, Nezar Abraham, was arrested by Trooper Kevin N. Brown of the South Carolina Highway Patrol for driving under the influence. As referenced in the State's initial brief, Trooper Brown issued ticket number F225314; however, it is noteworthy that the traffic ticket was not in evidence at trial, nor was the information contained therein, particularly with reference to the description and registration of the vehicle, published to the jury nor was that information considered by the jury as evidence in the case at trial. (R.p.52 lines 7-11). The jury trial was held on April 17, 2012 before the Honorable William Derrick, assistant Oconee County Magistrate Judge. The Respondent was represented by C. Austin McDaniel, Esquire of the Cole Law Firm and the Anderson Bar, and the Appellant (the State) was represented by Assistant Solicitor Beth Blundy of the Tenth Circuit Solicitor's Office.

Prior to trial the judge suppressed the portion of the in car video (States exhibit 1) that contained the transportation of the Respondent from the arrest site to the detention center, the field sobriety test conducted off video was also suppressed, and the State agreed not to play any portion of the video that contained hearsay. (R.p.47 line 20-25, p. 50 line 9-17) At trial, the State presented only one witness, arresting officer Trooper Brown. At the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief the Respondent moved for a directed verdict of not guilty arguing that the State presented no evidence to establish the *corpus delicti* of the DUI charge. The trial court denied the directed verdict motion, and again denied the motion upon renewal by Abraham after the jury was charged. Abraham was convicted of driving under the influence 1<sup>st</sup>

offense, (.16) of one percent or more and sentenced to 90 days imprisonment suspended to one day time served and a fine of thousand, two hundred and sixty-seven dollars (\$2,267.00). (R.p.173-177)

Abraham timely appealed the conviction to the Oconee County Court of Commons Pleas, and assigned Case No. 2012-CP-37-383. The appeal was heard by the Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay on September 4, 2012. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Blair Stoudemire of the Tenth Circuit Solicitor's Office and Mr. Abraham was represented by C. Austin McDaniel, Esquire. (R.p.155-156). Abraham argued that the magistrate judge erred in failing to direct a verdict of not guilty in favor of the defendant based on the State's failure to prove the *corpus delicti* of the offense of driving under the influence.

Abraham relied on City of Easley v. Portman, 327 S.C. 593, 490 S.E. 2d 613 (Ct. App. 1997), which was made court's exhibit 1 at trial (R. p. 130, lines 4-22) and the State relied on State v. Townsend, 321 S.C. 55, 467 S.E. 2d 138 (Ct. App. 1996). After hearing arguments, the circuit court granted Abraham's appeal and reversed his conviction. (R. p. 1-3).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sometime after midnight on July 7, 2011, Trooper Kevin N. Brown, with the South Carolina Highway Patrol, responded to a call from dispatch reporting a single car wreck alleged to have occurred on South Flagship Drive in Oconee County, South Carolina. Trooper Brown made contact with Abraham who was being held on the side of the road by an unidentified witness. Brown briefly interviewed Abraham, whom admitted that he had consumed a couple of glasses of wine. Brown administered standardized field sobriety test and arrested Abraham for driving under the influence. After Abraham was cuffed placed in the patrol car he stated that he was on his way home from the neighborhood's club house. Abraham was offered and submitted to a DMT breath test and gave a sample of .22%, or twenty-two one hundredths of one percent of alcohol at the time of testing.

At trial, Trooper Brown testified that upon arriving at the scene there were seven (7) to ten (10) initial responders that arrived at the incident location prior to him to include EMS, the fire department, and search and rescue (R. p. 100, lines 3-21). Trooper Brown admitted that he, "did not take the time to," identify, interview, and/ or take any written statements from those individuals that arrived at the incident site first, nor were any of them subpoenaed by the State to be present at trial to testify as to their observations on the night in question (R. p. 101, lines 3-12.). Further, the essence of Trooper Brown's testimony on direct examination was that he was unable to identify the make or model of the car alleged to have been wrecked and neither was he able to present any evidence as to the ownership or registration of the vehicle, but in fact testified that "off the top of my head" he thought the car might have come

back to a rental company or maybe leased out of Atlanta and may have been a later model dark in color car. (R. p. 77, lines 1-25)

Further, at no time during trial did the State attempt to establish what date and time the wreck occurred, nor was there any evidence presented as to what may have caused the single car accident. No video or photographic evidence was presented by the State of the car or wreck site because Trooper Brown failed to videotape the collision site with his in-car video system, nor were any pictures taken by him that night to be used at trial.

At the close of the State's case, Abraham moved for the trial court to direct a verdict of not guilty, arguing that the State had failed to establish any proof of corpus delicti for the charge of driving under the influence. That motion was denied and the jury subsequently convicted Abraham for driving under the influence.

## ARGUMENT

**The circuit court properly reversed the Respondent's conviction finding that the magistrate judge erred in failing to direct a verdict of not guilty where the State did not present sufficient independent evidence of the corpus delicti to corroborate the Respondents extra-judicial statement.**

The trial judge erred by failing to grant the Respondent's motion for a directed verdict of not guilty because no sufficient independent evidence that Mr. Abraham was operating a motor vehicle under the influence of alcohol was presented by the State to corroborate the Respondent's alleged extra-judicial statement. Thus, the circuit court properly reversed the conviction finding that the State failed to provide any factual basis as to the time of the collision, the cause of the collision, the make, model or other pertinent information regarding the vehicle alleged to be involved, and that none of the emergency personnel that arrived on the scene before the arresting officer were present for trial. Therefore, the order of the circuit court reversing the Respondent's conviction should be affirmed.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C.1, 5, 545 S.E. 2d 827, 829 (2001). On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 583, 541 S.E. 2d 254, 256 (2001). The Defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E. 2d 30, 36 (2001). A circuit court judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty. State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E. 2d 450, 451-52 (1984).

In a criminal case, “a conviction cannot be based solely on the defendant’s uncorroborated extra-judicial confession. The State must offer some proof of the corpus delicti of the particular offense for which the defendant is charged to authorize admission of the confession of the defendant,” City of Easley v. Portman, 327 S.C. 593, 595, 490 S.E.2d 613, 614 (Ct. App.1997). “ The corroboration rule is satisfied if the State provides sufficient independent evidence which serves to corroborate the defendant’s extra-judicial statements and, together with such statements, permits a reasonable belief that a crime occurred,” State v. Osborne, 335 S.C. 172,180, 516 S.E. 2d 201, 205 (1999). Evidence of the corpus delicti must be established by the best proof attainable by the State, it “may be sufficiently proved by presumptive or circumstantial evidence when that is the best obtainable,” State v. Townsend, 321 S.C. 55, 57, 467 S.E. 2d 138, 140 (Ct. App. 1996).

The South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976 as amended, § 56-5-2930 states that, “ it is unlawful for a person to drive a motor vehicle within the State while under the influence of alcohol to the extent that the person’s faculties to drive a motor vehicle are materially and appreciably impaired.” The corpus delicti of driving under the influence is : (1) driving a vehicle; (2) within this State; (3) while under the influence of alcohol...see Osborne, 335 SC 172, 180 (1999) “The act of operating a motor vehicle with impaired faculties is the gravamen of the offense,” see Townsend, 321 S.C. 55, 58.

The South Carolina Supreme Court addressed the issue of corpus delicti in State v. Osborne, 335 S.C. 172, 516 S.E. 2d 201 (1999). The Court relied on specific evidence presented at trial in determining that the State had presented sufficient

independent evidence that corroborated the defendant's extra-judicial statement admitting to driving the vehicle at the time of the wreck. There the arresting highway patrolman discovered an abandoned car at 11:17 pm that had left the roadway and struck a speed limit sign; the hood was still warm to the touch. Responding to a stolen vehicle call, a second officer made contact with the defendant at 1:50 am at a gas station, and the defendant had apparently reported the wrecked vehicle stolen, and, after a brief interview it, was discovered that the defendant had been the driver of the wrecked vehicle found earlier by the highway patrol. The defendant was then transported back to the wreck site in which he admitted that he was driving the vehicle at the time of the wreck, he was in possession of the keys to the locked vehicle, which he had reported stolen, and gave the keys to the arresting officer, and finally, the defendant admitted that he had not consumed any alcohol since the wreck.

In applying the corroboration rule, the Court held that, "applying this rule to the facts at hand, we find that the State provided sufficient independent evidence to support the trustworthiness of the Respondent's statement to police," Id at 180. The Court found that the independent evidence gathered by the arresting officer(s) during their investigation, including that the hood of the wrecked car was warm to the touch, coupled with the defendant's report of his vehicle being stolen which connected him directly and temporally with the wreck and the wrecked vehicle, together with the keys to the locked vehicle being located in the Defendant's pocket, all combined to provide sufficient independent evidence to support, and render trustworthy, the defendant's extra judicial admission that he wrecked the car and all combined established a reasonable inference that the DUI had been committed.

This Court has similarly engaged in this factual examination in two separate opinions determining that the State had met its burden at trial by presenting sufficient independent evidence which corroborated the defendant's admissions of driving. In City of Easley v. Portman, 327 S.C. 593, 490 S.E.2d 613 (Ct. App.1997), the State presented evidence that the arresting officer arrived at the scene of a wrecked Ford Bronco within 13 minutes of being informed by dispatch, the vehicle was warm to the touch; and the officer determined that the wreck had occurred within minutes of his arrival because the smell of tires was still present in the air. Further, the officer identified other individuals at the scene, including the registered owner of the Bronco and the defendant who had his head resting against the rear mounted spare tire of the wrecked vehicle. The Court found no error as to the sufficiency of the independent evidence addressing the temporal element of the wreck and the arresting officer's additional investigation of the facts and circumstances surrounding the accident, which was found to satisfy the corroboration rule and support the admission by the defendant that "I was driving the vehicle. I'm drunk. Take me to jail," Id at 595.

Similarly, in State v. Townsend, 321 S.C. 55, 467 S.E. 2d 138 (Ct. App. 1996), this Court held that the corpus delicti, "must be established by the best proof attainable, direct evidence is not essential," Id at 57. There the State presented evidence that a call stated a 1991 Lincoln had reportedly struck a power pole and a building. The arresting officer arrived at the scene and questioned firemen present at the location as to the driver's identity, at which point the defendant was identified. The officer administered field sobriety tests, following which, the defendant admitted to driving the vehicle, whereupon, he was placed under arrest for DUI and,

apparently, again admitted driving the wrecked car. This Court determined there was sufficient independent evidence to meet the threshold requirement of sufficiency to corroborate the defendant's admission of driving the vehicle at the time of the wreck.

At first impression the Townsend case seems strikingly similar to the present case. Further analysis totally differentiates the cases beginning with the fact that the vehicle, a 1991 Lincoln was described in the initial call reporting the wreck.

Following arrest, and at trial, Townsend admitted driving the wrecked vehicle and testified that he was, "angry over road rage that caused the wreck; therefore, he drank alcohol that he had in the car," after the wreck occurred. Id at 57. Thus, it appears from the facts available in the opinion, that the issue of the sufficiency of the evidence supporting admissibility of Townsend's extra judicial statements was rendered moot by Townsend's testimony at trial.

Further the present case is distinguishable from Townsend in that here the wrecked vehicle was never identified at trial nor connected to the defendant by any testimony or evidence. The date and time of the wreck were never established. The only extra judicial statements allegedly made by the defendant were essentially that he had consumed two glasses of wine and that he was heading home from the club. The defendant's home address and the location of the club were never established in relation to the incident location. The State presented no testimony or evidence tending to even suggest that faulty or impaired driving was apparent from the nature of the accident. "No police officer investigating a traffic accident shall necessarily deem the fact that an accident has occurred as giving rise to the presumption that a violation of law has occurred," S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-6170, Enforcement.

Townsend and Osborne establish that the corpus delicti in a particular case must be established by the best proof attainable and may be sufficiently proved by presumptive or circumstantial evidence when that is the best obtainable. Despite the fact that the State's only witness testified that when he arrived at the scene there were seven (7) to ten (10) first responders from various agencies on scene, the State's witness never identified any of those key witnesses; nor, did he take any statements to determine their knowledge of the status of the incident and the status of the defendant at the time of their arrival. Unanswered questions abound, such as: When did the first responders arrive? Was the defendant there at the scene when they arrived? Upon arriving at the scene, what did the first responders learn through their senses that may have established a time frame of reference and/or connected the defendant to the wrecked car? What statements did the defendant make to any of them? Was anyone else present at the scene when they arrived? Therein would have been found the best proof attainable, perhaps direct, perhaps presumptive or circumstantial, perhaps exculpatory for the defendant, but nevertheless the best attainable. However, zero (0) of the seven (7) to ten (10) estimated first responders, including the unidentified witness that was holding the Respondent on the side of the road when Trooper Brown arrived at the scene, were identified, interviewed, or questioned and none were subpoenaed by the State to present testimony at trial.

Using the above cited cases as a guide to the evidence needed to satisfy the corroboration rule, the conclusion seems unavoidable that in this case there is critical missing evidence needed to satisfy the State's minimal threshold requirement of sufficient independent evidence of the DUI. The common facts that bind Osborne,

Portman, and Townsend, are that in all three the State was able to support the trustworthiness of the defendant's admission of driving by providing, at trial, evidence that developed temporally when and what date the wreck occurred; developed through investigation what fault possibly caused the wreck; developed through records the make and model of the vehicle involved, and the registered owner of the vehicle. Further, the arresting officers engaged in independent investigations in which they identified other witnesses located at the scene in an effort to correctly identify the driver and to provide the State and the Defendant with more evidence to be used at any potential trial.

In the light most favorable to the State, the evidence presented at Abraham's trial established his mere presence, apparently detained on the road way, some distance away from an unidentified wrecked vehicle. Questioned by Trooper Brown, the Respondent stated that he had consumed two glasses of wine at some unstated time, whereupon he was administered standardized field sobriety tests, was arrested, hand cuffed, and placed in Trooper Brown's patrol car, and made the statement that he was heading home from the club house. Trooper Brown engaged in no independent investigation in an effort to provide the State with any evidence tending to prove the offense of driving under the influence, in support of any statements made by the defendant. For reasons known only to the State, and despite the burden on the State to relentlessly seek the truth, no effort was made to identify or develop any further evidence from the available witnesses that arrived at the incident location before the arresting officer, to meet the State's burden to support the trustworthiness of the Respondent's statement to police. The jury was left with no alternative but to